STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED
Aug 25 2026
SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Richland County

Honorable Jocelyn J. Newman, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JEROD DE'QUIN GOODWIN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-000260

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

WANDA H. CARTER
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

The trial judge erred in failing to charge the jury on the law of voluntary manslaughter because appellant responded after being attacked in a violent and physical manner on four separate occasions prior to the shooting that occurred in the case.

II.

The trial judge erred in denying appellant's request for the removal of his shackles at trial because of the prejudicial impact of the jury's probable understanding that appellant was shackled, particularly where this error was exacerbated during the solicitor's cross-examination of appellant at which time he engaged appellant in a mock re-enactment of the events that led to the shooting as this highlighted the presence of the shackles to a greater extent inasmuch as the jury could certainly hear the noise of the shackles and surmise that appellant was restrained.

III.

The trial judge erred in allowing prior bad acts information (stolen gun connected to appellant) into evidence at trial because the same was irrelevant and prejudicial to the case, particularly where the prejudice was exacerbated when the solicitor used the gun issue to advance improper conscious of the community remarks at closing argument with respect to local gun dangers and in effect tied the same to a jury duty to help by issuing appropriate verdicts.

IV.

The lower court erred in allowing the solicitor to present victim impact statements during closing argument.

V.

The trial judge erred in giving a malice instruction that referenced “the intentional doing of a wrongful act without just cause or excuse” in connection with the definition of malice because this charge was burden shifting and confusing in light of appellant’s self-defense claim.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Jerod Goodwin was convicted of murder, use of a vehicle without permission, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime during the December 2023 term of the Richland County General Sessions Court before Judge Jocelyn Newman. Appellant was sentenced to an aggregate thirty-year prison term. Defense Attorneys Nathaniel Brady, Megan Eigenbrot, and Tracy Pinnock represented appellant at trial, and Assistant Solicitors Samuel McGlothlin, Nicholas Fowler, and Dale Scott prosecuted the case.

Appellant appealed his convictions and sentences. This brief follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases an appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 625 S.E.2d 216 (2006). An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court abused its discretion. Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 529 S.E.2d 528 (2000). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or when the grounded in factual conclusions is without evidentiary support. *Id.*

In reviewing a trial court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence, appellate courts recognize that the trial judge has considerable latitude in this regard and will not disturb such rulings absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion. State v. Whitner, 399 S.C. 547, 732 S.E.2d 861 (212); State v. Clasby, 385 S.C. 148, 682 S.E.2d 892 (2009). In order to admit evidence of prior bad acts not resulting in a conviction, the trial court must determine whether the proffered evidence is relevant. State v. Clasby, *supra*. If the trial judge finds the evidence is relevant, the judge must then determine whether the bad act evidence is admissible under Rule 404(b). If the testimony is relevant and proffered for a permissible purpose, the trial court must conduct a balancing test pursuant to Rule 403 to discern whether the probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, and the trial court may exclude evidence if the probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. State v. Gilliams, 373 S.C. 601, 646 S.E.2d 872 (2007).

The appropriateness of a solicitor's closing argument is a matter left to the trial court's sound discretion. State v. Copeland, 321 S.C. 318, 468 S.E.2d 620 (1996). An appellate court will not disturb a trial court's ruling regarding closing argument unless there is an abuse of that discretion. State v. Penland, 275 S.C. 537, 273 S.E.2d 765 (1981).

QUESTION I

The trial judge erred in failing to charge the jury on the law of voluntary manslaughter because appellant responded after being attacked in a violent and physical manner on four separate occasions prior to the shooting that occurred in the case.

On August 15, 2021, Genesis Williams was shot by gunfire and died from his injuries. The shooting occurred in Richland County, South Carolina. Only two eyewitnesses were present at the shooting: appellant and Artiz Adeyinka. Both appellant and Adeyinka testified at trial.

Adeyinka testified that he, appellant, and Genesis Williams were all riding together in the same vehicle on the night in question. At some point, Adeyinka stated that they stopped in the Greene Street area. While there, many extraneous people and bystanders approached, and thereafter various fights erupted, many of which included assaults against Williams. When the Greene Street melee ended, the trio resumed riding around and traveled to an area near Leesburg Road and Garners Ferry Road. Adeyinka, who was driving at that time, stated that when he stopped the vehicle at a Citgo gas station in that area, Williams got out of the vehicle and demanded that appellant exit the vehicle. Then, Williams began pulling appellant out of the vehicle. Next, gunshots were fired by appellant. Williams was struck by gunfire. Adeyinka stated that appellant was in possession of a weapon on the night in question. R. 49, l.19-p. 89, l.24.

Appellant testified at trial and explained what happened in the case. Appellant stated that he, Williams, and Adeyinka were riding around on that night and at some point ended up near Greene Street where a crowd ultimately gathered. Appellant stated that Williams and Danny Sims were among the people who were arguing and fighting during the Greene Street brawl. Appellant added that he had migrated to his residence nearby to retrieve a weapon. Appellant testified that their next stop was near the Leesburg Road and Garners Ferry Road area, and that at

that stop, Williams loudly ordered him (appellant) to exit the vehicle and commenced **four separate attempts to violently pull him (appellant) out of the vehicle. See a detailed description of the violence perpetrated upon appellant at the hands of Williams on page seven of this brief.** Thereafter, Williams tried to grab his (appellant's) gun. Appellant fired his gun at Williams in self-defense. Apparently, appellant surmised that Williams was angry over the perceived notion that appellant was not supportive of him (Williams) when he (Williams) and Sims fought during the Greene Street incident. R. 299, l.12-p. 321, l.25.

Defense counsel requested a voluntary manslaughter jury charge in the case. R. 518, l. 18 – p. 521, l. 13. The trial judge denied the request. R. 521, lines 4-14.

To warrant the court eliminating the charge of manslaughter, there must be evidence whatsoever tending to reduce the crime from murder to manslaughter. State v. Cole, 338 S.C. 97, 525 S.E.2d 511 (2000). In determining whether the evidence requires a charge of voluntary manslaughter, the court views the facts in the light most favorable to the defendant. State v. Byrd, 323 S.C. 319, 474 S.E.2d 430 (1996). Voluntary manslaughter is the unlawful killing of a human being in sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation. State v. Cole, supra. Although sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation need not dethrone reason entirely or shut out knowledge or volition, the same must be such that it would naturally disturb the sway of reason and render the mind of an ordinary person incapable of cool reflection and produce what according to human experience may be called an uncontrollable impulse to do violence. State v. Cole, supra.

Compare the case State v. Knoten, 347 S.C. 296, 555 S.E.2d 391 (2001), where the Court held that the trial judge erred in failing to charge voluntary manslaughter where the evidence revealed that the defendant was cut by the deceased twice before the defendant responded by

using a pipe to strike the deceased. Compare also State v. Lowry, 315 S.C. 396, 434 S.E.2d 272 (1993), where the Court held the trial judge erred in failing to charge voluntary manslaughter where the deceased and defendant were in a heated argument and the deceased was about to initiate physical contact. In determining whether the act which caused death was impelled by heat of passion, all surrounding circumstances and conditions are to be taken into consideration, including previous relations and conditions connected with the tragedy, as well as those existing at the time of the killing. State v. Smith, 391, S.C. 408, 706 S.C.12 (2011). See also, State v. Linder, 276 S.C. 304, 278 S.E.2d 335 (1981), where the Court held that voluntary manslaughter should have been charged where the defendant stated that the police officer began to fire on him (defendant). Note that evidence of self-defense and voluntary manslaughter may coexist, and that a charge on both may be warranted also. State v. Starnes, 388 S.C. 590, 698, S.E.2d 604 (2010). In addition, fear immediately followed an attack may cause sudden heat of passion. State v. Starnes, *supra*.

In the case at bar, appellant was clearly acting under sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation. Williams' violent behavior toward appellant on that night was apparent during he fighting on Greene Street, and Williams' violent behavior escalated out of control at the Leesburg and Garners Ferry Roads stop. Actually, Williams began his violent behavior prior to both stops. Previously, the trio stopped at Club Felicities where Williams argued vehemently with the manager of the club after being denied entry. R. 305, l.16 - p. 306, l.20. Furthermore, note that appellant attempted to calm Williams when he (Williams) began arguing and fighting with Danny Sims at the Greene Street location; and that Williams' response to appellant's move to de-escalate was to engage in a physical fight (mushing) with appellant. R. 306, l.21-p. 311, l.24. Note further that appellant believed to the best of his knowledge that

Williams was in possession of a gun on that night. R. 313, 1.1-2. After the Greene Street brawl ended, Williams' hyperviolent state of being continued and grew exponentially. Williams ranted, raved, and railed against appellant inferring betrayal because he (appellant) appeared loyal to Sims' position instead of his (Williams' position) during their fight. When the final stop occurred, Williams' mental and physical posturing had reached a frenzied fever pitch whereinafter he ultimately demanded that appellant exit the vehicle. Williams actually exited the car and attempted to physically pull appellant out of the vehicle. Then, Williams moved to the other side of the vehicle and made a second attempt to physically pull appellant out of the vehicle. Next, Williams started pacing around the vehicle screaming for appellant to "get the f--- - out." Following this, Williams began a third attempt to pull appellant out of the vehicle, but this time in a far more aggressive manner than before. Appellant exited the vehicle and begged Williams to stop (in effect). Appellant re-entered the vehicle and Williams grew angrier. On Williams' fourth attempt to pull appellant out of the vehicle, Williams reached and "went for [appellant's] gun after Williams performed a "waist check" to feel for appellant's gun, while all the time simultaneously yelling to appellant to get out of the vehicle. R. 313, 1.8-p. 317, 1.24. Appellant's testimony below is a description of how the last of the events unfolded prior to the shooting:

SOLICITOR: How does it make you feel when he tapped your gun when he went for you waist

APPELLANT: He alerted me. He alerted me. I'm like why did he touch my gun.

SOLICITOR: What did you do then?

APPELLANT: So now I took all precautions like for next time I basically like blocked my gun so he wouldn't be able to grab it, try to snatch it out of my waist.

SOLICITOR: What did you do with the car door?

APPELLANT: This time I wasn't able—this would be the fourth time. I got back into the car. This would be the fourth time I'm back into the car, so I wasn't able to shut the door this time. It was too fast. This fourth time, he came in, went straight to my waist.

SOLICITOR: How does he grab you or go for you at that point?

APPELLANT: He grabbed my upper body there, came under my arm, tried to tug and went for the gun.

SOLICITOR: What was going on through your head?

APPELLANT: Scared, I was scared he was going to grab my gun, what would he have done.

SOLICITOR: What did you think he was going to do?

APPELLANT: Shoot me, kill me.

SOLICITOR: Why did you think that?

APPELLANT: I know what he do. He was already a hot head. He was already mad at that time.

SOLICITOR: Jerod, you've known him for a little while. What is his reputation?

APPELLANT: He has a bad reputation, not bad but especially with me, I don't think he has a bad reputation, but I know he does with other people.

SOLICITOR: Was that something you were thinking about?

APPELLANT: Yes, ma'am.

SOLICITOR: And at this moment, what do you do?

APPELLANT: It's him going for my gun. I'm trying to pull him off of me, but in the meantime shots went from here.

SOLICITOR: How many times did you shoot?

APPELLANT: To my knowledge, I struggled. I only though I pulled—I shot two times. R. 318, l. 8 – p. 319, l. 21.

Clearly, the facts as outlined above support the existence of sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation on appellant's behalf to the extent that a voluntary manslaughter jury charge was warranted in the case. Note further that Williams had a reputation of possessing and using firearms. Compare the case of Leggette v. State, 440 S.C. 590, 892 S.E.2d 153 (2023), where the Court upheld the trial judge's voluntary manslaughter charge as properly given where similar facts were successfully presented in support of such a charge. In Legette, there were prior ongoing difficulties, and threats, and arguing between the defendant and the deceased beginning two to four days prior to the incident; and the final approach to Legette made by the decedent and the decedent's friends ended in gunshots being fired after there was a waistband reach (from the decedent's friends) that occurred during all of the activities that culminated at the scene. The Court's analysis set forth in Legette in support of a voluntary manslaughter charge follows:

We acknowledge the question of whether Petitioner acted in a sudden heat of passion is a close one. But instruction on a lesser offense is appropriate when "any evidence" supports the lesser charge. Both Petitioner and Ingram testified as to prior altercations between their respective neighborhoods, referencing separate incidents two and four days prior to the shooting. Regarding the night of the shooting, Petitioner and Gardner both testified they were surrounded in a threatening manner by several westside men after they arrived at Carnell's, and Petitioner feared he was about to be jumped when the group formed a semi-circle around him. Both Petitioner and Gardner were scared. Several witnesses testified people pointed Petitioner out to Ingram when Ingram and Tisdale arrived, and Ingram believed people were encouraging him to fight Petitioner.

Witnesses also testified that as Petitioner either walked or ran away from the group of westside men, Ingram and Tisdale followed closely behind him, with Gardner testifying Ingram and Tisdale "went after" Petitioner immediately after he started towards the Super Chic store. Jackson continued to watch after the men walked off because he thought he was about to see a fight. Petitioner testified that when he heard someone come up behind him and ask, "What's up now?" he turned and saw Ingram and Tisdale just three feet from him. Petitioner recalled he was scared when he saw Ingram reach toward his waist because Ingram was known to carry a weapon, "So, I proceeded to pull my gun out and shot two, two to three times. Petitioner admitted that Tisdale and Ingram running after him caused him to be fearful and frightened; he was already scared and did not know what to do because the prior incidents indicated hostilities between the opposing groups were escalating.

Although Petitioner's testimony established the main provocation on the night of the shooting came from Ingram, Tisdale accompanied Ingram in following Petitioner and both were clearly part of the approaching, threatening westside group. See State v. Locklair, 341 S.C. 352, 362, 535 S.E.2d 420, 425 (2000) ("Provocation necessary to support a voluntary manslaughter charge must come from some act of or related to the victim in order to constitute sufficient legal provocation." (emphasis added)); *id.* ("The provocation of the deceased must be such as naturally and instantly produces in the mind of a person ordinarily constituted the highest degree of exasperation, rage, anger, sudden resentment, or terror, rendering the mind incapable of cool reflection." (second emphasis added) (quoting State v. Franklin, 310 S.C. 122, 125, 425 S.E.2d 758, 760 (Ct. App. 1993))). In light of the prior troubles between Petitioner and the westside group and the menacing actions of the various westside men on the night of the shooting, we find evidence exists to support the PCR court's finding that trial counsel was not deficient in failing to object to the voluntary manslaughter instruction as a lesser-included offense. See, e.g., *Starnes*, 388 S.C. at 596, 698 S.E.2d at 608 ("If there is any evidence from which it could be inferred the lesser, rather than the greater, offense was committed, the defendant is entitled to such charge.").

Likewise, as in Leggette, the facts here supported a voluntary manslaughter jury charge. The trial judge erred in failing to charge the jury in the law of voluntary manslaughter in the case at bar.

QUESTION II

The trial judge erred in denying appellant's request for the removal of his shackles at trial because of the prejudicial impact of the jury's probable understanding that appellant was shackled, particularly where this error was exacerbated during the solicitor's cross-examination of appellant at which time he engaged appellant in a mock re-enactment of the events that led to the shooting as this highlighted the presence of the shackles to a greater extent inasmuch as the jury could certainly hear the noise of the shackles and surmise that appellant was restrained.

Prior to trial, defense counsel requested that appellant's shackles be removed in order to eliminate the prejudicial impact of the jury's view of this at trial. The colloquy regarding this matter follows:

DEFENSE COUNSEL: So, your Honor, this morning a motion regarding shackling in front of the jurors; there has been a series of recent cases that has really emphasized the need to have defendants

unshackled so that there is not this prejudicial effect about the jurors potentially seeing or hearing the shackles, and therefore creating an inference that that person is dangerous and can't be in the courtroom without that type of apparatus around them. Your Honor, I'll make that an exhibit of that. I'll get it to you with the rest of the motions we will have in these hearings. Mr. Goodwin is currently wearing the leg shackles that have been taken off, the belt that they have that goes around him. We're objecting to all forms of shackling throughout the trial.

R. 1 lines 8-21.

THE COURT: That's just based on the potential that jurors may see it?

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Yes, Your Honor. I just never quite know how this goes. In a little bit that jury is going to come in here. We're all going to be asked to stand. At that point, you know, if we can't control that, when they start hearing that clinking and they realize that person may be in shackles. So again, we're asking since we can't really control when that happens, it's based on people moving around, leaning over talking to counsel, we are asking that you order the shackles to be removed whenever the jury is present.

THE COURT: Okay. What's the State's position?

SOLICITOR: Your Honor, I can sit down and introduce myself, if need be, but I heard from courtroom security it's a concern of theirs. So I'd defer to the professionals in that regard.

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