RECEIVED

Aug 24 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

Appeal from Richland County
The Honorable Jocelyn J. Newman, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JEROD DE'QUIN GOODWIN,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2025-000260

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

W. JOSEPH MAYE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100851

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

HON. BYRON E. GIPSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit
P. O. Box 192
Columbia, South Carolina 29802-3368
803-576-1800

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

ARGUMENT

I. Appellant did not present evidence that would warrant a voluntary manslaughter charge, and as such the trial court rightfully denied the requested charge.

Standard of Review

“An appellate court will not reverse the trial judge’s decision regarding a jury charge absent an abuse of discretion.” *State v. Mattison*, 388 S.C. 469, 479, 697 S.E.2d 578, 584 (2010). An abuse of discretion “means nothing more or less than that the ruling of the trial court was without reasonable factual support, resulted in prejudice to the rights of appellant, and therefore, in the circumstances, amounted to error of law.” *Bridges v. Wyandotte Worsted Co.*, 239 S.C. 37, 40, 121 S.E.2d 300, 302 (1961). “If there is any evidence *to warrant a jury instruction*, a trial court must, upon request, give the instruction.” *State v. Smith*, 391 S.C. 408, 412, 706 S.E.2d 12, 14 (2011) (emphasis added). “To justify charging the lesser crime, the evidence presented must allow a rational inference the defendant was guilty only of the lesser offense. The court looks to the totality of the evidence in evaluating whether such an inference has been created.” *State v. Geiger*, 370 S.C. 600, 607, 635 S.E.2d 669, 673 (Ct. App. 2006) (internal citations omitted) “A jury charge which is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal.” *State v. Mattison*, 388 S.C. 469, 478, 697 S.E.2d 578, 583 (2010).

Analysis

Appellant’s argument is not properly preserved as the basis for the requested charge at trial differs from the argument raised on appeal. Regardless, the record does not support the “any evidence” standard for warranting a voluntary manslaughter charge in this case. The trial court therefore did not err in denying the requested charge during the charge conference.

a. Record clarifications

While Respondent has provided a detailed factual recitation above, the inconsistencies between the record and Appellant's stated facts set forth under Issue I warrant *specific* attention.

First, Appellant asserts that according to Artiz's testimony, the demand to exit the vehicle and the ensuing struggle took place at the Citgo. (See Brief of Appellant, page 5). This is not accurate. Both Artiz and Appellant testified that the demand to get out of the vehicle and the ensuing crime took place on Dominion Drive, a few houses away from Artiz's home.

Second, Appellant asserts that "Williams had a reputation of possessing and using firearms." Nowhere in the record is this established – even Appellant's own testimony and his own witnesses at trial contradict this assertion.⁶ (See R. p. 63, lines 19-24; p. 116, lines 14-19; p. 118, lines 20-21; p. 221, lines 10-16; p. 267, line 19 through p. 268, line 13; p. 450 line 18 through 451, line 7; R. p. 319, lines 10-12).

Third, Appellant's description of the events on Greene Street is simply not supported by the record, and the inconsistencies dangerously bolster the basis for which Appellant argues error concerning the denied voluntary manslaughter charge. Appellant characterizes that portion of the night as "fights erupt[ing]," the "Greene Street melee," and "the Green Street brawl." After those descriptors are given, Appellant asserts as part of his argument that Appellant went into his house to retrieve his weapon. Though Appellant does not overtly state it, the assertion is such that it would suggest Appellant armed himself as a result of the supposed "brawl" involving Victim.

Collectively and independently, these are gross misunderstandings of the record.

⁶ Appellant, who is charged with murder and attempting to convince a jury that he acted in self-defense, claimed that Victim was armed on the night of the crime. The record does not support such further than Appellant's own assertions (R. p. 313; 348-349; 440) and the Facebook video of Victim holding someone else's gun. (R. p. 119). Such does not establish "a reputation" for possessing and using firearms.

Appellant's own testimony demonstrated that upon arriving home they are talking and laughing and the "first thing" he did when he arrived home, was to go inside and change clothes. He was still in his club clothing and wanted to put on something more comfortable, which included putting on slides (a type of sandal). While inside changing, he chose to arm himself (according to Appellant). (R. p. 307-308; 347). Notwithstanding the fact that this testimony is contrary to that of his own mother (See R. p. 484-485), none of the testimony offered at trial⁷ demonstrated that his choice to arm himself was correlated to the arguments that took place on Greene Street.

Next, the description of the events that took place on Greene Street simply does not match the record facts. Appellant describes their presence at Greene Street as one of chilling and relaxing with friends while they drank and smoked. (R. p. 308-309). He then testified that some friends pulled up, which included "Danny." He described Danny as being really close to Victim, believed them to be cousins, but that Danny and Victim had a disagreement or "something going on prior to us being there that day." (R. p. 309). He then testified that Danny and Victim got "into a heated argument, a scuffle" that involved cussing, name calling, and "put[ing] their hands on each other, wrapped up, just for confirmation." (R. p. 309, lines 21-22). According to Appellant, when he made efforts to calm Victim down Victim became angry with Appellant as he believed Appellant was "tak[ing] off with Danny (or, taking Danny's side). (R. p. 309-310). This resulted in Appellant and Victim having words, calling each other names, and "mushing" each other (pressing one's hand into somebody's face). Appellant testified "it didn't go too far between us" and did not go beyond mushing. (R. p. 311; 342). Ultimately, the gathering got loud which caused Appellant's

⁷ Respondent would also note that Artiz saw Appellant with a gun in his lap while Appellant was driving earlier in the night. This was while they were at a gas station off of Fontaine Rd and Two Notch *before* they drove to Greene Street. (R. p. 56-59; 68; 109). This gas station cannot be confused with the later referenced CITGO, as Appellant testified that the CITGO was on Leesburg Road, near Artiz's house. (R. p. 355).

mother to become angry about the late-night noise. He described that they got things calmed down, and they “continued laughing, drinking, smoking around.” This calm lasted for nearly an hour, after which Artiz got tired and wanted to go home. (R. p. 311-312). Appellant testified that while he knew many of the people gathered had guns, he never saw anyone pull and point them.

Artiz’s description, though differing on certain points, likewise does not present a night like the one characterized by Appellant in briefing. Artiz testified that they were standing by the car while at Greene Street, and that there was commotion and arguing, which included people pulling out guns – though he never saw Victim with a gun that night. (R. p. 62-63). He then testified that Victim got into an argument because people had been insulting him and calling him names; Appellant ultimately joined in on this behavior. Though there was a lot of posturing and talking, Artiz testified that the night never got physical. (R. 63-64). *Neither witnesses’ account of the events on Greene Street come remotely close to the characterizations used by Appellant to build a case that Victim was acting with escalated violence throughout the night.* What the record shows is that Victim argued a lot, but despite arguing with multiple people he had restrained from physical fights or the use of force until he attempted to pull Appellant out of his girlfriend’s vehicle once he refused ejection.

As demonstrated, the collective errors in the statement of facts were severe and were specifically relevant to the argument. The facts of record simply do not, indeed, cannot support the argument.

b. The argument is not preserved for appellate review because Appellant attempts to argue different grounds on appeal than those presented to the trial court.

Appellant’s argument that the trial court erred in denying a voluntary manslaughter charge is not preserved for appellate review. A defendant is not permitted to argue one ground below and

another on appeal. *State v. Haselden*, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003) (citing *State v. Byram*, 326 S.C. 107, 485 S.E.2d 360 (1997); *State v. Caldwell*, 378 S.C. 268, 283, 662 S.E.2d 474, 482 (Ct. App. 2008)). Appellant appears to have done precisely that. He makes no reference to Appellant's anger, which was the basis for the requested charge at trial. He instead focuses upon Victim's actions, and inferentially, the fear such might cause. Appellant's argument is not preserved.

At trial Appellant's argument for a voluntary manslaughter charge was based upon "anger."

Though hardly a strong argument, defense counsel asserted:

I think there's been a good bit of testimony that the State has produced and that Mr. Adeyinka has talked about those prior difficulties and certainly that everyone agrees that Mr. Williams was reaching into the backseat, grabbing at him, pulling at him and trying to remove him from the vehicle. I think that in combination, if the jury is to believe that Mr. Adeyinka's testimony and Mr. Gibson's testimony is truthful, that Jerod was still standing from this issue over at Greene Street and then that continued and never interrupted which is what Mr. Adeyinka provided was kind of ***Jerod still being mad*** about that, and then this provocation leading to an incident, bit of aggression. You know, once he starts getting grabbed. I think exact words that are Mr. Gibson Adeyinka used were, ***"You think I'm playing? You think I'm playing?"*** Which I think again goes towards whether or not this is an escalating heat of passion scenario with provocation as to being physically grabbed or carried over from earlier as Mr. Gibson Adeyinka also testified. So I do think that there's been evidence presented through testimony that would go towards a manslaughter charge.

(R. p. 520(emphasis added)). In response the trial court disagreed, noting that the record demonstrated Appellant stewed in his dispute with Victim, and that even if Artiz's testimony is believed, that testimony demonstrated that there was malice in Appellant's actions.⁸ However, on appeal, Appellant 1) fails to clearly identify and discuss the emotional basis from which his heat

⁸ Such was appropriate under *State v. Funchess*, 267 S.C. 427, 430, 229 S.E.2d 331, 332 (1976).

of passion allegedly arose, and 2) absence explicit discussion, appears to rely solely on the actions of Victim as a basis for demonstrating a fearful circumstance. Appellant has attempted to switch the basis for voluntary manslaughter from anger to fear. Such is not permissible and this Court should find Issue I unpreserved for appellate review.

c. The record facts fail to constitute evidence establishing either element for voluntary manslaughter.

The record evidence and testimony fail to demonstrate any basis for which voluntary manslaughter could be charged. Appellant first characterized his shooting as an accident when he called his ex-girlfriend. Appellant then characterized it as self-defense when contacting an attorney and then testified to the same explanation at trial. Appellant even argues such in brief. (See Brief of Appellant, p. 6). However, he now argues that he should have received a voluntary manslaughter charge. In the record, evidence of legal provocation is questionable at best, and evidence of an uncontrollable impulse to do harm is non-existent. This case is a straight-forward, albeit unconvincing, argument for self-defense, and as such it was correct for the court to deny the requested jury instruction.

Voluntary manslaughter is the unlawful killing of another human being in a sudden heat of passion, brought upon by sufficient legal provocation. *State v. Walker*, 324 S.C. 257, 260, 478 S.E.2d 280, 281 (1996). This heat of passion must carry such sway that it would produce an “uncontrollable impulse to do violence.” *State v. Cole*, 338 S.C. 97, 102, 525 S.E.2d 511, 513 (2000). It is true that our Supreme Court has ruled that self-defense and voluntary manslaughter are not mutually exclusive, but likewise our Court has found that a self-defense case can lack the necessary evidence to support voluntary manslaughter. *State v. Starnes*, 388 S.C. 590, 698 S.E.2d 604, 608–09 (2010). “Whether a voluntary manslaughter charge is warranted turns on the facts.” *Id.* at 597. As a result, the basis for sufficient legal provocation can be difficult to discern and has

led to our courts' frequent struggle to delineate it from evidence sounding in self-defense. *Id.* at 597-598. Our courts have held that an unprovoked attack can constitute sufficient legal provocation for a heat of passion killing, but they have also found that a defendant's fear alone is insufficient to satisfy an entitlement to voluntary manslaughter. *State v. Starnes*, 388 S.C. 590, 698 S.E.2d 604 (2010); See *State v. Childers*, 373 S.C. 367, 645 S.E.2d 233 (2007). "The evidence must demonstrate that the fear manifested itself in an uncontrollable impulse to do violence. *Id.* at 598-599. A jury instruction for voluntary manslaughter is only proper if there is evidence to demonstrate *both* a sudden heat of passion *and* sufficient legal provocation under the circumstances presented. *State v. Starnes*, 388 S.C. 590, 597, 698 S.E.2d 604, 608 (2010); *State v. Cole*, 338 S.C. 97, 102, 525 S.E.2d 511, 513 (2000); *State v. Byrd*, 323 S.C. 319, 322, 474 S.E.2d 430, 432 (1996).

The "any evidence" standard utilized in determining whether a jury charge should be given, is not one that can disregard reason and rational inference; any evidence means any evidence creating a *reasonable inference*. Numerous cases speak to this legal principle. See *State v. Moore*, 245 S.C. 416, 421, 140 S.E.2d 779, 781 (1965); *State v. Lambright*, 279 S.C. 535, 537, 309 S.E.2d 7, 8 (1983); *State v. Gilmore*, 396 S.C. 72, 82, 719 S.E.2d 688, 693 (Ct. App. 2011); *State v. Geiger*, 370 S.C. 600, 607, 635 S.E.2d 669, 673 (Ct. App. 2006) *State v. Small*, 307 S.C. 92, 94, 413 S.E.2d 870, 871 (Ct. App. 1992). As such, Appellant must do more than conjure a theoretical view of the facts to support an otherwise unsupportable inference from the evidence.

At trial, Appellant conceded that he had no lawful right to be in the car. Nevertheless, he disregarded Victim's demands to exit the vehicle and inexplicably got back into the vehicle multiple times after Victim attempted to pull him out by force. He even did so again even after Victim allegedly "waist checked" him by tapping his gun.

Victim had the right to eject Appellant from his vehicle, and he began by verbally demanding Appellant leave the vehicle. He then attempted to use nonharmful, albeit physical force. Then, if Appellant's testimony is believed, he attempted to obtain Appellant's firearm. However, at no time do the facts establish an effort by Victim to harm Appellant, as even the effort to obtain the weapon is subject to inference and could just have easily been Victim wanting to *disarm* Appellant. Respondent argues that such is not sufficient to constitute legal provocation under the circumstances.

Appellant's argument for heat of passion is even weaker. First, Appellant's exclusive focus upon Victim and his behavior is entirely misplaced. Appellant attempts to characterize Victim as being out of control and violent, but nowhere in the argument does Appellant attempt to describe *Appellant's reaction* to Victim's behavior. There is no argument establishing the requisite emotional state, heat of passion, or uncontrollable actions which voluntary manslaughter requires. He instead insinuates that Appellant's decision to shoot as being an act of fear in light of Victim's alleged behavior and simply presumes the second element is satisfied. The law requires much more, and the record cannot suffice.

When the record is fully evaluated, Appellant's testimony is simply that he was confused by Victim's anger and became fearful when Victim allegedly attempted to grab his gun. He attempted to get Victim off of him, "but in the meantime shots went from here." (R. p. 319). Here, on direct examination, Appellant barely even assigned himself agency to purposefully pulling the trigger, to say nothing of the absence of testimony tending to show that he was overcome by fear in such a way that he had an uncontrollable impulse to do harm. See *State v. Starnes*, 388 S.C. 590, 698 S.E.2d 604 (2010); See *State v. Childers*, 373 S.C. 367, 645 S.E.2d 233 (2007). On cross, Appellant indicated that he fired as part of the fight to gain control of the gun and get Victim off

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